IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NORTH FLORIDA WOMEN'S HEALTH AND COUNSELING SERVICES, INC.;

ET AL., : CASE NO: SC01-843

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

:

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA; FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH; ET AL.,

Defendants-Respondents.

____/

On Appeal from The First District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida (Case Numbers 1D00-1983, 1D00-2106)

PLAINTIFFS-PETITIONERS' AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

Bebe J. Anderson*
Jody Ratner*
The Center for Reproductive
Law & Policy
120 Wall Street, 14th Floor
New York, NY 10005
(917) 637-3600

Richard E. Johnson Fla. Bar No. 858323 314 W. Jefferson St. Tallahassee, FL 32301-1608 (850) 425-1997 Dara Klassel*
Planned Parenthood Federation

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Provision of Abortion Services in Florida

The testimony demonstrated that abortion services are provided to young women in Florida in an appropriate and safe manner. Prior to performance of any abortion procedure, all patients are informed about the nature and risks of the abortion procedure, and the patient's reasons for seeking an abortion and postoperative instructions are discussed. (R. v. VIII, p. 1302:10-1306:14, 1315:18-1316:10; R. v. IX, p. 1381:18-1382:14, 1383:9-18; R. v. I, p. 196 ¶ 17) A physician will not perform an abortion if the patient has not provided informed consent. (TT 664:22-665:2; R. v. IX, p. 1390:17-1391:1, 1412:2-10; R. v. I, p.

195-96 ¶ 16; R. v. II, p. 206 ¶ 16) *See also* § 766.103(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (1999) (physicians must obtain informed consent).

After the abortion has been performed, the patient rests in the recovery room. (R. v. VIII, p. 1308:18-1309:14; R. v. IX, p. 1385:14-1386:3) All patients are questioned regarding their relevant medical histories. (TT 644:4-6; R. v. VIII, p. 1306:9-14; R. v. IX, p. 1381:21-1382:6, 1384:15-21) The trial court found that "[m]ost minors, especially older minors, are perfectly capable of relaying the necessary medical information and history to the physician." (R. v. XIV, p. 2193; see TT 644:7-646:14; R. v. VIII, p. 1306:15-1307:8; R. v. IX, p. 1382:18-1383:8; R. v. I, p. 195-96 ¶ 16) Moreover, medical tests are conducted that reveal necessary information about the patient's medical condition and history. (R. v. VIII, p. 1339:2-5, 1339:19-1340:9, 1368:6-1369:2; R. v. IX, p. 1382:2-3; TT

644:14-17 [regarding information obtained from vital signs, blood tests, urine samples])

Before the patient is discharged, clinic personnel provide verbal and written post-operative instructions to the patient and a post-operative visit is scheduled. (R. v. VIII, p. 1309:5-1311:11; R. v. IX, p. 1386:4-11, 1432:9-1433:15; see also, e.g., Defs. Exh. 13, 48) Typically, patients are prescribed antibiotics and are instructed how frequently to take them. (R. v. IX, p. 1386:7-17; Defs. Exh. 48) Patients are also advised to refrain from swimming, taking tub baths, douching, using tampons, and having intercourse until the time of their postoperative examination. (R. v. IX, p. 1433:16-24; Defs. Exh. 13, 48)

Although the State's witness Dr. Moorhead testified that minors would have difficulty understanding and complying with written post-operative instructions

without parental involvement, she acknowledged that she had no personal knowledge regarding the circumstances under which post-operative information is given to Plaintiffs' patients. (TT 1133:14-1134:25, 1135:10-1136:4) Dr. Moorhead also acknowledged that she lacked personal knowledge of any clinic practices other than in the Jacksonville area, that she has never worked in a clinic that provides abortions, and that her opinions are based in part on a law student's article regarding abortion counseling practices. (TT 1143:21-1144:3, 1149:8-10, 1151:11-14; App., Tab I, 14:20-16:14)

B. The Safety of Abortion Relative to Other Medical Care Not Requiring Parental Notification

1. The Safety of Abortion

"[F]rom the evidence," the trial court found "that abortion is one of the safer surgical procedures." (R. v. XIV, p. 2192) Although abortion is "surgery" in the

sense that it is an invasive procedure, the most commonly used methods of providing abortions in Florida do not involve making an incision. (R. v. VIII, p. 1297:10-20) The likelihood of a woman developing any post-abortion complication is very low. (R. v. VIII, p. 1296:18-1301:4; TT 455:3-456:5; R. v. I, p. 194 ¶¶ 9-10; id., p. 148 ¶ 14; R. v. X, p. 1626:14-1627:12) Moreover, the risk is lowest for abortions performed during the first trimester, when most Florida minors obtain abortions. (R. v. VIII, p. 1300:3-23, 1370:12-21; TT 383:19-387:2; R. v. I, p. 148 ¶ 15; Pls. Exh. 41, Table 16) The most common complications which can occur after an abortion are infection, hemorrhage, damage to internal organs, failure to terminate the pregnancy, and complications resulting from anesthesia or post-operative medications. (R. v. X, p. 1640:17-24; R. v. VIII, p. 1297:21-1299:9 [study based on 250,000 abortion patients concluded risk of

infection is approximately 5 per 10,000, risk of failure to terminate the pregnancy is approximately 12 per 10,000, risk of perforation of the uterus is approximately 3 per 10,000]; see also App., Tab B, 32:6-34:5, 41:18-44:17, 58:3-59:21 & Exh. 2, 3, 4 [State's claim regarding the potential link between breast cancer and abortion is not supported by the best scientific evidence on the issue]) However, the overall risk of being hospitalized for any of these complications is only 8 per 10,000 (R. v. VIII, p. 1297:21-1298:16); that is, most abortion complications are minor and dealt with by out-patient treatment.²

Medical abortions, using methotrexate and misoprostol, are performed by Plaintiff Dr. Benjamin up to seven weeks of pregnancy as measured from the first

² The associated risks of mortality are also extremely low. For example, the risk of dying from an abortion performed at 9 to 10 weeks is approximately 0.3 per 100,000, or three per one million abortions. (*See* R. v. VIII, p. 1296:18-1297:9; TT 445:1-5, 455:3-456:5; Pls. Exh. 41, Table 19; R. v. I, p. 148 ¶¶ 14-15)

day of the woman's last menstrual period ("lmp"). (TT 666:22-667:11, 693:14-24; R. v. IV, p. 635 ¶ 23) Studies have shown that these drugs are "extremely safe" when used for abortions and treating ectopic pregnancies, and "there have been no known mortalities and no significant morbidities." (TT 667:12-25.)

Very few young women suffer serious emotional or psychological consequences as a result of abortion. (TT 478:5-480:14; *see also* Pls. Exh. 50 & TT 498:18-509:6; Pls. Exh. 54 & TT 512:1-513:11) Although some women experience negative responses after having an abortion, for the vast majority of those women the responses are mild, decline sharply immediately after the abortion, and then decline gradually over the next few months. (Pls. Exh. 6; TT 489:2-490:13, 502:20-503:5; *see also* Pls. Exh. 52, 61, 65, & TT 477:19-478:4,

480:15-498:8, 513:12-514:23 [describing numerous studies of psychological responses to abortion])

2. The Risks Posed to Minors by Medical Care for Which Parental Notification is Not Required

The trial court found that "in no qualitative sense, are the risks higher, or more unique for abortions than they are for childbirth, or for other surgical procedures for which a minor may now lawfully consent without notifying her parents." (R. v. XIV, p. 2192; *see, e.g.*, TT 391:9-25; R. v. IV, p. 616 ¶¶ 3-4)

Pregnancy poses numerous health risks for minors. The main risks

associated with carrying a pregnancy to term are hemorrhage; infection; worsening pre-existing medical complications, such as a seizure disorder or hypertension; risks associated with a cesarean section; and aggravation of chronic diseases, such as anemia, colitis, and bowel problems. (R. v. VIII, p. 1299:20-1300:2; R. v. IV, p. 618 ¶ 8; see also TT 649:5-20, 650:17-651:11; R. v. VIII, p. 1369:3-13; R. v. IV,

p. 617-18 ¶ 7; R. v. X, p. 1637:15-1639:14) Other chronic conditions may make

pregnancy more dangerous. (See, e.g., TT 635:3-7, 640:24-641:11, 648:8-652:20, 655:13-21; R. v. IV, p. 617-18 ¶ 7 [diabetes, arrhythmia, kidney disease, congenital heart disease]) Minors with hypertension are at increased risk of developing toxemia during pregnancy. (TT 636:13-637:2) Asthma is common in young women and an asthmatic attack during pregnancy can be life-threatening. (TT 645:15-16, 646:15-648:7, 652:8-15) Epilepsy is also a relatively common disease among minors, and drugs commonly used for treatment of epilepsy and treatment of asthma are contraindicated for use during pregnancy. (TT 647:2-22, 649:21-650:16, 652:8-21, 657:16-658:8; cf. id. 648:8-653:11, 656:3-657:7 [continued use of medications treating various conditions may put pregnant minor's or fetus's health at risk]) Many of these risks occur long before childbirth and even before the minor's pregnancy "shows."

Young women, especially teens, have a higher risk of developing toxemia in pregnancy than do most adult women, which can result in damage to virtually every organ of the body, seizures, and possibly death, and can make delivery by cesarean section necessary. (TT 634:20-635:2, 636:8-637:2, 662:24-25; R. v. IV, p. 617 ¶ 5; R. v. X, p. 1624:23-1625:6 [State's witness]) Pregnant minors face the risk of miscarrying during their pregnancy. Approximately 15% of pregnancies end in miscarriage, which poses risks of heavy bleeding and infection, and even death, and can necessitate a dilation and currettage ("D&C") or a hysterectomy, which will leave the woman infertile. (TT 634:3-14, 637:16-639:7; see also App., Tab D, 53:17-24 [State's witness sees many women in emergency room due to complications from miscarriages]; Pls. Exh. 41, Table 19 [mortality from miscarriages]) From approximately 13 to 26 weeks lmp, late spontaneous

abortions can occur, which pose greater risks than miscarriages, including the risk that the woman might rapidly bleed to death. (TT 634:15-19, 636:8-10, 639:11-640:23; see also Pls. Exh. 41, Table 19 [mortality from spontaneous abortions]) Compared to adults, minors are also at heightened risk for preterm labor, which poses risks of hemorrhage and infection and may necessitate medical procedures to forestall delivery. (R. v. X, p. 1625:12-25, 1638:22-1640:10 [State's witness]; TT 634:3-19, 636:8-10; see also R. v. IV, p. 617 ¶ 6 [medications to forestall delivery can pose life-threatening risks])

Medical procedures used during pregnancy, including intrauterine fetal diagnostic tests (such as amniocentesis), pose risks to the patient. (R. v. VIII, p. 1301:5-19; R. v. I, p. 194 ¶ 12; R. v. IV, p. 618 ¶ 8) Fetal intrauterine surgery

poses risks comparable to those associated with a cesarean section. (R. v. I, p. 195 \P 13; R. v. X, p. 1624:4-12 [State's witness])

Significant risks are associated with delivery. Minors are more likely than adult women to deliver by means of cesarean section. (TT 662:19-663:6) Cesarean section is a major invasive surgical operation and associated risks include injury to surrounding organs, hemorrhage, infection, and death. (TT 635:12-18, 637:3-15, 660:24-662:15; see also R. v. IV, p. 618 ¶ 8; R. v. X, p. 1623:22-1624:12 [State's witness]) Vaginal delivery also poses risks to minors, including hemorrhage; infection; lacerations of the cervix; crushing of the urethra; tearing of the muscular and connective tissues of the pelvic floor; and even death. (TT 635:8-12, 659:7-660:19) Even abortions at late gestational ages are safer than childbirth in terms of both morbidity and mortality. (TT 391:9-25; R. v. IV, p. 616

¶¶ 3-4 [rate of death from pregnancy and childbirth in Florida is 9.7 deaths per 100,000 births].) Moreover, teen motherhood adversely affects the economic and educational future of minors: teen mothers are much less likely to finish high school, are more likely to have no job or a low-paying one, and have reduced economic potential. (*See, e.g.*, TT 371:20-373:17, 1416:17-1417:5; App., Tab C, 75:11-80:16, Exh. 6)

Minors may undergo these risks without parental knowledge of their pregnancy. The trial court found that

[a] pregnant minor will eventually "show" in most cases, but some minors conceal their pregnancy for several months and some even deliver their babies without their parents knowing about it. By the time a minor "shows," it may be too late for a parent to counsel her child as to the abortion decision as it may be too late to safely, or legally, choose abortion. Thus, just as an abortion cannot be undone, neither can the decision to carry to term be revoked after a certain point.

(R. v. XIV, p. 2200; *see also* R. v. III, p. 449 ¶ 29 [minors have given birth without parental knowledge]; Section II.D.2.b, *infra* [regarding limited availability of

abortions beyond 18 or 20 weeks lmp in Florida]) Moreover, although parents may be aware of the pregnancy, they are not necessarily involved in or aware of all of the minor's medical decisions relating to the pregnancy. (R. v. IV, p. $618 \, \P \, 9$)

A minor who fails to obtain pregnancy-related care faces significant health risks. The trial court found that "the earlier prenatal care begins, the better." (R. v. XIV, p. 2200; see also TT 1147:25-1148:6; R. v. XI, p. 1723:10-1724:6, 1731:6-12 [State's witnesses]) Prenatal care includes advice about adequate nutrition, which is crucial during the very first weeks of pregnancy, because the developing fetus can deplete the minor's stores of nutrients such as calcium and iron -- which can lead to anemia -- and it may not be possible to correct those early deficiencies later. (TT 316:21-320:19) Early medical care after a positive pregnancy test is also important due to the risk of ectopic pregnancy, which can be life-threatening to the

pregnant minor. (R. v. IV, p. 635 ¶ 22; TT 1043:20-1044:24, 1173:25-1174:16 [State's witness])³

Furthermore, as the trial court found, emotional and psychological consequences flow not only from the decision to have an abortion, but also from "the decision to carry a pregnancy to term, to remove life support for your infant child, or to give your child up for adoption." (R. v. XIV, p. 2192; see, e.g., TT 1416:17-1417:10, 1419:5-10 [State's witness Dr. Elkind testified regarding psychological harms result from teenage motherhood]; R. v. X, p. 1639:15-17 & App., Tab H, 66:25-68:8, 167:1-20 [State's witnesses regarding psychological and adjustment complications that result from carrying to term and giving child up for

³ Pregnant minors also need to avoid alcohol, nicotine, prescription drugs, and illicit drugs early in their pregnancy, because those substances may pose risks of interfering with organ formation of the early developing fetus. (TT 316:21-317:2, 320:20-321:5, 322:1-17, 323:5-324:14)

adoption]; App., Tab C, 68:16-73:3 & Exh. 6 [study comparing psychological status of minor women who had abortions with those who carried pregnancies to term found that the former had experienced a greater decrease in levels of anxiety after two years than had the latter group])

In addition, as the State's witnesses testified, minors face serious health risks if they contract a sexually transmitted disease ("STD") and fail to obtain treatment or to correctly follow treatment instructions for such diseases. Delay in obtaining treatment for STDs can result in infertility; failure to follow a prescribed treatment regimen can even be fatal. (See App., Tab H, 141:12-142:4; id., 144:8-145:4; TT 1147:12-24; see also R. v. X, p. 1595:14-1597:4, 1615:10-1617:8 & R. v. XI, p. 1664:14-1666:21 [regarding importance of involving parents for treatment of STDs])

C. The Decision-Making Ability of Minors

The trial court found that

[m]aturity is a relative term, and gradually developed. A person does not magically become mature and able to make informed decisions upon reaching the age of 18 years - or even much older. . . . Some 16 and 17 year olds are more mature than some adults in their 20's, 30s - or older - and these minors are often just as able, or better able, than some adults to make informed decisions and exercise sound judgments, taking into account both immediate and long range consequences of their choices.

* * *

[G]enerally, the younger and less experienced the minor the less her ability to exercise judgment.

(R. v. XIV, p. 2191-2192)

Studies of the decision-making ability or cognitive competency of minors

have found that "[b]y middle or later adolescence, minors have the capacity to

reason abstractly about hypothetical situations, reason about multiple alternatives

and consequences, consider multiple variables, combine variables in more complex

ways, and use information systematically in arriving at a decision." (Pls. Exh. 53

at p. 147-48; see also TT 530:20-533:23, 1412:8-19, 1426:8-1427:9) Minors, as a

group, can weigh the consequences and understand the risks and benefits of an abortion decision. (TT 518:10-19, 564:9-21; see also id. 527:5-530:14 [study found that minors under 15 and those aged 16 to 17 who were seeking abortions were as competent as the 18 to 21 year old women]; Pls. Exh. 55 at 18-19 & Pls. Exh. 63 at p. 86 [few age-related differences found in adolescents' abilities to make decision whether to abort, carry to term, or put child up for adoption]; TT 516:17-518:8, 518:20-524:25, 555:18-556:11, 745:21-746: 21 & Pls. Exh. 51 [supporting conclusion that minors are rational in their decision-making in the abortion context]; TT 525:8-526:21, 576:18-577:22, 772:19-773:15 & Pls. Exh. 58 [studies of adolescents have shown that they do not have a greater sense of invulnerability than do adults]; TT 555:24-556:6, 741:24-743:9, 774:13-21,

777:20-778:3 [explaining why minors' decision-making in abortion and

contraceptive use contexts may differ from decision-making in other contexts])

Moreover, the need for minors to make decisions that will have both immediate and long-range consequences arises in other contexts, in which the

[a] minor is no more mature, or better able to make informed decisions as to carrying a child to term, or determining medical treatment for her child, or giving her child up for adoption.

Legislature has not required parental notification. The trial court found that

(R. v. XIV, p. 2199) In fact, data indicate that a minor who has gone through the decision-making process of choosing abortion and who has negotiated the health system in order to effectuate her choice is more likely to be mature than a pregnant minor who continues a pregnancy, who may simply have avoided making a decision. (TT 568:16-570:16, 571:16-24; App., Tab C, 86:10-87:11) Moreover, studies have found that adolescents who are seeking abortions tend to have more future perspective than those who are continuing their pregnancy to term. (TT 596:20-599:4; Pls. Exh. 28, 54)

Under Florida law, the pregnant minor who is continuing her pregnancy may

decide on her own what pregnancy-related care she will seek and receive. §

743.065, Fla. Stat. (1999). (See also TT 651:12-652:7, 1168:24-1169:5) For example, a minor who is in the advanced stages of toxemia may decide without parental consultation whether to try to continue the pregnancy a little longer in order to give the fetus a better chance of survival or to deliver the fetus immediately in order to save her own life or health. (R. v. IV, p. 617 ¶ 5) Similarly, although the presence of fetal anomalies in the fetus can pose health risks to the pregnant woman if she continues her pregnancy, a minor may choose, without parental involvement, to continue her pregnancy despite those health risks. (TT 663:11-664:21) The decision of whether to undergo a cesarean or vaginal delivery also entails complex choices and requires a minor to weigh increased risk to herself from the cesarean delivery against increased risk to the fetus from

forgoing that option and delivering vaginally. Yet the minor may make this decision alone. (R. v. IV, p. $618 \, \P \, 8$)

As Dr. Elkind, one of the State's witnesses, testified, the Act's distinction between minors choosing abortion and minors choosing to carry to term is psychologically inappropriate. (App., Tab F, 59:17-23) In his view, it is "equally important" to have parents involved in the decision-making process whether the minor wants to choose abortion or birth. (TT 1441:3-22; see also id. 1363:23-1364:12, 1414:23-1415:1 [decision-making ability doesn't change if minor decides to carry to term], 1415:2-22; App., Tab H, 124:14-125:8 [State's witness Dr. Greene testified that decisions to abort and to carry to term are equally difficult for a minor]; R. v. XII, p. 1802:16-1803:10 [State's witness Dr. Figley testified regarding importance of parent knowing minor is pregnant so parent can assist

minor in decision-making before it is too late to exercise choice to terminate

pregnancy])

D. The Effect of the Act on Minors Seeking Abortions

1. The Fears and Concerns That Motivate Minors to Avoid Parental Consent Also Motivate Them to Avoid Parental Notice.

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