IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NORTH FLORIDA WOMEN'S HEALTH AND COUNSELING SERVICES, INC., ET AL.,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA; FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH; ET AL., CASE NO.: SC01-843 DCA CASE No: 1D00-1983, 1D00-2106

Defendants/Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOHN J. RIMES, III Office of the Attorney General FL Bar No. 212008 PL 01, The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District properly concluded that the Act furthers the State's compelling interest in assisting parents in their duty to provide care and medical treatment for their minor children and that the Act does so by the least intrusive means. Although not reached by the First District (because it did not need to), the State's compelling interests (1) in protecting minors from their own immaturity, (2) in preventing and detecting sexual abuse to minors, and (3) in preserving the integrity of the family also justify the Act.

Plaintiffs' privacy-based challenge to the Act rests on a fundamental misunderstanding of this Court's decision in <u>In re T.W.</u> First, Plaintiffs ignore the fundamental distinction between a consent statute, which deprives the minor of

control over the abortion decision, and a notice statute (like the Act) that preserves a minor's right to choose. The Court in <u>In re T.W.</u> invalidated a consent statute, not a notice statute.

Second, the Court in <u>In re T.W.</u> did not purport to comprehensively define the nature of the State's interests in the "abortion context" generally. <u>In re T.W.</u> and other decisions of this Court, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Krischer v. McIver</u>, 697 So. 2d 97 (Fla 1997), make it abundantly clear that the definition of what constitutes a compelling interest is context-specific. The Court must undertake a careful inquiry of the State's asserted interests <u>in relation to</u> the precise nature of the intrusion effected by the statute under review. A state interest can be deemed compelling in one circumstance but not compelling in a related (indeed, factually similar) circumstance. <u>See Krischer</u>.

Finally, the rigid and formulaic conception of the consistency inquiry advocated by Plaintiffs has never been employed by this Court. Properly understood, the consistency analysis set forth in <u>In re T.W.</u> and other decisions of this Court tests whether the State has offered a reasonable basis for the legislative distinctions that are inherent in the difficult task of setting public policy. As the District Court concluded, any asserted inconsistencies between the Act and similar legislation are either justified or nonexistent.

The Act furthers the State's compelling interests through the least intrusive means. The parental notice requirement embodied in the Act recognizes that, left to their own devices, minors habitually fail to avail themselves of follow-up treatment; that parents are the most interested and effective counselors of their children; and that judges are in a better position than doctors to oversee the Act's bypass procedures. None of the alternative statutory approaches suggested by Plaintiffs would effectively accomplish the Act's purposes.

The First District also correctly rejected Plaintiffs' equal protection and due process claims. With regard to the former, even assuming <u>arguendo</u> that Plaintiffs have identified disparate treatment of similarly-situated individuals and that such treatment triggers the highest level of judicial scrutiny, the compelling state interests underlying the Act justify that treatment. With regard to the latter: (1) the clear evidence standard is wholly appropriate for an uncontested, ex parte proceeding and by no means vague; (2) a constitutionally necessary scienter standard can properly be inferred from the Act; and (3) the reasonableness standard set forth in the Act is consistent with other disciplinary standards governing physicians and is thus sufficiently clear in the context of notification.

The Act should be upheld in its entirety.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. PLAINTIFFS IGNORE THE CONTEXT-SPECIFIC NATURE OF FLORIDA'S PRIVACY RIGHT ANALYSIS AND MISCONSTRUE THIS COURT'S CONSISTENCY INQUIRY.

Plaintiffs' main contention is that the Act violates minors' right to privacy under Florida law. The right to privacy expressed in Article I, section 23, of the Florida Constitution affords each Florida citizen a general expectation of being let alone, but it by no means offers blanket immunity from governmental intrusion into one's personal life. <u>See City of N. Miami v. Kurtz</u>, 653 So. 2d 1025, 1027-28 (Fla. 1995). A legislative enactment may legitimately impinge upon a privacy interest if the statute furthers a compelling state interest through the least intrusive means. <u>E.g., J.A.S. v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 1381 (Fla. 1998)(statute prohibiting sexual contact with minor implicates privacy right but serves compelling interest through least intrusive means).

This Court has recognized that there are State interests which are sufficiently compelling to justify statutory requirements and other forms of government action that impinge upon the right to privacy. In some cases, those legitimate intrusions have required the disclosure of personal information that one might otherwise wish to keep from others, see, e.g., Florida Bd. of Bar Examiners Re: Applicant, 443 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1983)(required disclosure of medical and psychological history necessary to determine fitness to practice law). In other cases, the Court has upheld intrusions that directly affect the right to make decisions central to an individual's autonomy, see Krischer v. McIver, 697 So. 2d 97 (Fla 1997)(State has compelling interests sufficient to overcome individual's wish for assistance in committing suicide); see also Jones v. State, 640 So. 2d 1084(Fla. 1994)(need to protect minors from harm justifies criminalizing consensual sexual relations between a minor under 16 and an adult).

The Court's prior decisions construing the right to privacy make it abundantly clear that the strength of the State's interest must be evaluated in the context of the nature of the intrusion involved. In <u>In re T.W.</u>, for example, the Court noted that it had more often found a compelling interest in the "disclosural" context than in cases directly involving "personal decisionmaking." Also illustrative of this point is the Court's analysis in <u>Krischer v. McIver</u>.

In <u>Krischer</u>, the Court found the State's interests in the preservation of life, in the prevention of suicide, and in the integrity of the medical profession to be compelling grounds for the State's prohibition of assisted suicide, see id. at 103-04. Also in Krischer, however, the Court recognized that its decisions had deemed these very same interests not compelling when proffered to justify the State's efforts to foreclose a person from refusing life-sustaining medical treatment, see id. at 102, Kogan, J. dissenting at 109-11. Clearly, both the choice to seek assistance in committing suicide and the choice to refuse life-sustaining medical treatment implicate personal decisionmaking in its most profound sense. In fact, the trial court in <u>Krischer</u> had concluded that there was no meaningful difference between those two choices. Nonetheless, based on its careful evaluation of the precise nature of the state intrusion at issue (i.e., the difference between precluding a person from enlisting others' help in committing suicide and forcing a person to accept treatment), the Court deemed the State's interests compelling in one instance, but not the other.

The Court spoke directly to the inherently context-based nature of privacy rights analysis in <u>J.A.S. v. State</u>, supra, 705 So. 2d at 1387:

[While] it would simplify [the] privacy analysis if we could fashion a precise equation by which all could easily determine which interest should prevail in whatever context a privacy right is asserted the

human experience is not so easily categorized or quantified and no single formula can be crafted for deciding issues which implicate the most personal and intimate forms of conduct and privacy, especially where children are involved. If we blinded ourselves to the unique facts of each case, we would render decisions in a vacuum with no thought to the serious consequences of our decisions for the affected parties and society in general.

The Court's analysis in <u>Krischer</u> demonstrates the error of Plaintiffs' sweeping claim that <u>In re T. W.</u> forecloses State action to protect minors' well being "in the abortion context" generally. The Court in <u>In re T. W.</u> addressed a specific intrusion–a parental <u>consent</u> requirement that deprived minors of ultimate control over the decision whether to have an abortion–and concluded that the State does not have a compelling interest to justify that intrusion. In no way did the Court purport to evaluate whether the state's interest in preventing demonstrable harm to minors justifies the parental <u>notice</u> requirement embodied in the Act. The interests that the State claims justify the Act must be examined independently and in the specific context of the need for parental notification. To the extent that Plaintiffs use <u>In re T. W.</u> as a template to craft a "precise equation" invalidating all efforts of the State to address real harms to children in the "abortion context," their effort must fail.

Courts nationwide have recognized the self-evident point that a parental notice statute is fundamentally less intrusive than a parental consent statute, <u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Ohio v. Akron Center for Reproductive Health</u>, 497 U.S. 502, 511 (1990) ("notice statutes are not equivalent to consent statutes because they do not give anyone a veto power over a minor's abortion decision"); <u>Planned Parenthood of</u>

<u>Blue Ridge v. Camblos</u>, 155 F.3d 352, 363-64 (4th Cir. 1998). Predicated on the notion that a minor is too immature to make the decision to have an abortion, a consent statute deprives a minor of control over the abortion decision. By contrast, a notice statute preserves the minor's right to make the abortion decision, but assists parents in meeting their duty to ensure that the minor's health and well-being are not unnecessarily harmed. Both the concerns addressed by the State and the scope of the intrusion on the minor's privacy right are profoundly different in each instance.

Recognizing the unassailability of the District Court's conclusion that the Act really does address and alleviate demonstrable harms to minors, Plaintiffs resort to the claim that the Act is invalid because it is assertedly inconsistent with other provisions of law. This challenge will be addressed in concert with the discussion of the state interests underlying the Act. Nonetheless, it must be noted at the outset that Plaintiffs misunderstand the role of legislative consistency in this Court's privacy rights analysis.

This Court has never employed its consistency inquiry to require superficially consistent treatment across society wherever a statute touches upon the right to privacy. Clearly the Court recognizes that it is the Legislature's constitutional duty to determine social policy and that the Legislature must have sufficient latitude to draw reasonable distinctions in furtherance of that duty. <u>See</u> Art. II, § 3, Fla. Const. (establishing three separate branches of government); <u>Krischer v. McIver, supra, 697 So. 2d at 104 (holding it is uniquely the</u> Legislature's role to create social policy and enact laws that further that policy); <u>State v. Ashley</u>, 701 So. 2d 338, 342-43 (Fla. 1997) ("[O]f the three branches of government, the judiciary is the least capable of receiving public input and resolving broad public policy questions based on a societal consensus.") (quoting <u>Shands Teaching Hosp. & Clinics, Inc. v. Smith</u>, 497 So. 2d 644, 646 (Fla. 1986)). A court's consistency inquiry must not be applied in a manner that would undermine the constitutionally-mandated separation of powers.

Recognizing the need to respect the reasonable exercise of legislative discretion, the judiciary's inquiry into legislative consistency is not a formulaic exercise. As explained by the United States Supreme Court:

[T]he law need not be in every respect logically consistent with its aims to be constitutional. It is enough that there is an evil at hand for correction, and that it might be thought that the particular legislative measure was a rational way to correct it.

<u>Williamson v. Lee Optical</u>, 348 U.S. 483, 487-88 (1955). See also Mariani v.
<u>United States</u>, 212 F.3d 761, 773-75 (3d Cir. 2000); <u>In re Gainer</u>, 466 So. 2d 1055, 1059 (Fla. 1985); <u>United Yacht Brokers, Inc. v. Gillespie</u>, 377 So. 2d 668, 671 (Fla. 1979); <u>see also Austin v. Mich. Chamber of Comm.</u>, 494 U.S. 652, 677 (1990) (Brennan, J. concurring) ("One purpose of the underinclusiveness inquiry is to ensure that the proffered state interest actually underlies the law.").

Challenges based on asserted legislative "inconsistencies" only succeed where no sensible basis supports the Legislature's determination to treat apparently similar circumstances differently. This Court's citation in <u>In re T.W.</u> to its earlier

decision in <u>Ivey v. Bacardi Imports Co.</u>, 541 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1989), makes this plain. The law at issue in <u>Ivey</u> blatantly treated similar parties differently. But that inconsistency alone did not doom the statute. Rather, the Court conducted its own inquiry and determined that the law's inconsistencies were irrational and that the State's asserted interests were largely contradicted by the facts adduced in the record.

In the instant case, the District Court evaluated the "inconsistencies" asserted by Plaintiffs and found them to be either justified or nonexistent. This Court should come to the same conclusion.

II. THE ACT DOES NOT VIOLATE A MINOR'S RIGHT TO PRIVACY.

A. <u>As the First District held, the Act Furthers the State's</u> <u>Compelling Interest in Assisting Parents in Their Duty to</u> <u>Provide Care and Medical Treatment for their Minor</u> <u>Children.</u>

The First District correctly acknowledged the State's compelling interest in "facilitating the ability of parents... to fulfill their duty to provide appropriate medical care for their daughters," <u>North Florida</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly at 422. Within the most basic unit of our society – the family – parents hold the legal responsibility for recognizing their minor children's medical needs and securing appropriate medical attention. Failure in these respects may constitute neglect and provide the State with justification to intervene in, and in some cases sever, the parent-child relationship. <u>See § 827.03(3)(a)1.</u>, Fla. Stat. (defining neglect to include failure to provide necessary medicine and medicinal services); <u>see also, e.g., Simms v. State, Dep't of Health & Rehab. Servs.</u>, 641 So. 2d 957, 959-60 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (parental rights terminated based largely on inadequate medical attention).

The United States Supreme Court has long recognized parents' duty to provide appropriate medical care to their minor children, as well as minors' concomitant right to call upon their parents for the discharge of that duty:

[O]ur constitutional system long ago rejected any notion that a child is "the mere creature of the State" and, on the contrary, asserted that parents generally "have the right, coupled with the high duty, to recognize and prepare [their children] for additional obligations." Surely, this includes a "high duty" to recognize symptoms of illness and to seek and follow medical advice.

Parham v. J.R., 442 U.S. 584, 602 (1979) (quoting Pierce v. Society of Sisters, 268
U.S. 510, 535 (1925)). Likewise, this Court and other Florida courts have historically acknowledged these respective parent-child rights and duties. E.g., Finn v. Finn, 312 So. 2d 726, 730 (1975) ("It is recognized that a parent has the obligation to nurture, support, educate, and protect his minor children and the child has the right to call on him for the discharge of this duty."); State v. Bollinger, 88
Fla. 123, 126, 101 So. 282, 283 (1924) (same); see also O'Keefe v. Orea, 731 So. 2d 680, 686 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) ("Implicit in the parent's right to consent to proposed medical treatment for his minor or otherwise incompetent child, is the right to be fully informed concerning the child's condition and prognosis."); Variety Children's Hosp. v. Vigliotti, 385 So. 2d 1052, 1054 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) ("[E]ither or both of the parents of a minor child have a duty to provide reasonable and necessary medical attention for that child.").

The evidence in this case confirms that the Act materially aids parents in complying with their duty to provide appropriate medical care for their children because abortions, however comparatively safe as a surgical procedure, do have attendant risks. At the very least, even in the absence of any complications, having an abortion requires short-term monitoring and medication, as well as temporary limitations on a minor's normal lifestyle, such as no driving and no strenuous activity. (D Ex. 5H, 48.) But even more compelling is the fact that, as the District

26

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